
 
 

 Page 1 of 7  COC-090808-02  

 
 

 

MEETING MINUTES # 31 
 

July 14, 2008 
 

MEETING DATE: Monday, July 14, 2008 
MEETING TIME: 4:00 p.m. 
MEETING LOCATION: San Diego Community College District (SDCCD)  

3375 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 245 
San Diego, CA  92108 

 

Attendees* / Distribution  *Indi cates those present at this meeting 

Committee Members: S.D.C.C.D. Staff: 

Barton, Jaime Backensto, David 

Berg, Andy* Beebe, Anthony *  Continuing Education 

Bragg, Rocky* Burgess, Terry *  City College 

Caballero-Sotelo, Linda Burkhart, Richard* 

Fulton, Margaret Carroll, Constance M.* Chancellor 

Glaser, Bobby* Chair Cepeda, Rita  Mesa College 

Lemmon, Tom* Davis, Terry City College 

Marston, Jeff * Vice Chair Dittbenner, Rich *  

Morrell, John  Hsieh, Patricia* Miramar College 

Schwartz, Rosalie* Lareau, Lance  

Smith, Carolyn Y. Murphy, Ryan* 

Villarreal, Robert* Parker, Bob Continuing Education 

Zaharopoulos, Pat* Perez, Ron*  Mesa College 

 Rogers, Darrell* 

 Rogers, Charles 

Board of Trustees: Umstot, David 

Zschiesche, Peter  White, Peter  Miramar College        

  

Visitors/Speakers: Gafcon-Proposition S and N Program Staff: 

 Cho, Mark* 

 Ibarra, Rosie* 

 Kroemer, Ursula* 

 Seba, Peta* 

 
Prepared by: Peta Seba, Gafcon    
Information/corrections received regarding meeting minutes will be filed with the meeting minutes and considered to be record documents.  
Please inform the writer of any errors or omissions to these minutes; otherwise, they will be presumed correct as written.  Meeting participants 
are asked to take notes and take action on items discussed.



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 2 of 7 

 

AGENDA ITEM AND MINUTES:  × ACTION  

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Bobby Glaser at 4:05 p.m.  

1. Roll Call and Introductions  No motion on this item 

Chairman Glaser asked Mark Cho of Gafcon to conduct roll call.  
Chancellor Carroll introduced the District representatives.  

 

2. Approval of COC Meeting Minutes #30, May 28, 2008  

Chairman Glaser asked if there were any questions, corrections or additions 
with regard to the meeting minutes of May 28, 2008.  There were no changes 
or comments.  Chairman Glaser stated the meeting minutes could be found 
online at the SDCCD-COC website.   
 
MOTION :  Chairman Glaser called for a motion to approve the May 28, 

2008, meeting minutes.  The motion was approved unanimously. 
  

  Motion to approve the 
 May 28, 2008 Meeting Minutes. 

3. Chairmanõs Report   No motion on this item 

Chairman Glaser called on Chancellor Carroll to brief the COC on the 
groundbreaking ceremony for the Allied Health building.  The Chancellor said 
the groundbreaking went extremely well. The event was attended by Mr. Jeff 
Marston and Ms. Rosalie Schwartz of the COC, along with a very large 
turnout of students and faculty from Mesa, and representatives from hospitals 
participating in the health curriculum program.   
 

 
 
 
 
 

4. Sub-Committee Reports   No motion on this item 

Chairman Glaser asked the Sub-committee Chairs to report. 
 
Construction Sub-committee: 
Mr. Lemmon distributed a sample of the new Monthly Report that is being 
developed for each project currently under construction.  The particular 
sample referenced the Allied Health Building at Mesa College.  Ms. Kroemer 
indicated the Monthly Reports will be available on the ôPerformanceõ page of 
the website.  Mr. Lemmon said the reports would provide the COC the 
opportunity to view a quick snapshot of each project as it is progressing.  Mr. 
Lemmon said he appreciated Gafconõs effort in creating reports that help the 
COC track progress and spending.  Mr. Andrew Berg added that he is 
appreciative of the detail provided in the reports.  Mr. Berg said with 
additional projects getting started, it is even more important for the COC to 
monitor the progress of the projects. He asked that the members continue to 
be informed of any issues.  
 
Mr. Lemmon raised a concern about the poor attendance of COC members at 
the Construction Sub-committee meetings.  Chairman Glaser stated that in 
addition to Sub-committee meeting attendance being down, the COCõs regular 
meeting attendance is also down.  Chairman Glaser suggested he work with 
the Chancellor and other District leaders to emphasize the importance of 
regular attendance. He also mentioned there are COC vacancies that need to 
be filled.  Chairman Glaser stated that the next COC meeting will include a 
discussion regarding Sub-committee reappointments, and encouraged the 
members to consider serving on new Sub-committees.  Mr. Berg asked if a 
new Student Representative had been appointed.  Chancellor Carroll indicated 
that the Board of Education will be considering an appointment of a new 

 
 



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 3 of 7 

AGENDA ITEM AND MINUTES:  × ACTION  

Student Trustee, Clemente Valdez, at the next Board meeting on July 31, 2008.   
Mr. Berg asked if the COC has an attendance requirement in the By-Laws.  
Mr. Burkhart confirmed there is an attendance requirement, and added that 
Vice Chancellor David Umstot is working to bring on a new COC member 
with a construction background.  A new member will be added to represent 
the San Diego County Taxpayers Association as well. Chairman Glaser stated 
he would work with Mr. Burkhart and the Chancellorõs Office to improve 
COC membership attendance. 
 
There were no further comments. 
 
Communications Sub-committee: 
Chairman Glaser asked Mr. Jeff Marston, Chair of the Communications Sub-
committee to report.  Mr. Marston stated the Sub-committee met on June 23, 
2008, and the main topic for discussion was the Mid-Year Report.  Ms. 
Kroemer distributed draft copies of the Mid-Year Report and asked the 
Committee for their feedback.  Ms. Kroemer stated completion of the report 
was pending on finalized expenditure data that would be completed by the 
District within the next several days.  The Mid-Year Report will be available in 
color and black and white versions and will be available for electronic 
distribution.   Ms. Kroemer stated she is working both with the Chancellorõs 
Office and Mr. Richard Dittbenner to develop an email database for the 
Chancellorõs approved distribution list. Mr. Marston reviewed the Mid-Year 
Report content, and proposed to the COC that if they had any questions, edits 
or changes, to submit them within five days of viewing the draft to maintain 
the distribution of the Mid-Year Report in a timely manner.  Mr. Marston 
stated there would be a link on the Mid Year Report referring to the Monthly 
Project Report on the District website so the community could view.  
Chairman Glaser stated that Mr. Dittbennerõs communications distribution 
spreadsheet is very extensive and covers the community very well.  Mr. 
Marston stated the Sub-committee wanted to make the information on the 
Mid-Year Report as transparent and as comprehensive as possible.  Mr. 
Marston stated all comments/changes and edits would need to be received by 
5:00 p.m. Friday, July 18, 2008.  Chairman Glaser thanked the Sub-committee 
for their efforts on putting the Mid-Year Report together.  
 
There were no further comments. 
 
Finance and Audit Sub-committee: 
Chairman Glaser asked Mr. Rocky Bragg, Chair of the Finance and Audit Sub-
committee, to report.  Mr. Bragg indicated the committee is satisfied with 
recent progress and has no issues of concern.  As a result, no meeting was 
scheduled. 
 
There were no further comments. 



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 4 of 7 

 

5. Rainbow Program Summary Report   No motion on this item 

Mr. Burkhart distributed a draft copy of the Propositions S and N Project 
Summary Table, also known as the òRainbow Report.ó Mr. Burkhart stated 
the report is still being fine-tuned, but that once finalized, will be the most 
informative report the District will be able to provide the COC. The report 
lists every single project in Prop S and N on one document, and is color-coded 
to indicate the current construction phase.  These include: 
 

 Project Completed 

 Construction Phase 

 Design/Bid Phase 

 Future Projects 
 

Mr. Burkhart described the layout of the report, and indicated all the projects 
are listed with their respective budgets Mr. Burkhart asked the committee if 
they had any questions.  Mr. Berg had a question about the soft costs versus 
the construction costs for the L Building Renovation.  Mr. Burkhart said he 
would review the numbers and provide clarification.  Mr. Berg suggested a 
Change Order percentage be added to the report.  Mr. Burkhart stated he 
would take that into consideration.  Mr. Burkhart added that the Rainbow 
Report will be updated frequently and regularly reported on at all future COC 
meetings. Chairman Glaser stated the Rainbow Report was excellent and very 
informative. 
 
Chancellor Carroll added that if the COC felt the Rainbow Report would be 
valuable to share with the public, then the District should adapt it to be 
presented on the SDCCD website.  Chairman Glaser suggested that the sheer 
volume of content might make it difficult to read online, and recommended it 
continue to be shared as a handout. Chairman Glaser asked if anyone had any 
further questions or comments.  Mr. Berg suggested that the total cost of the 
projects also be included as a column.  Mr. Burkhart welcomed his suggestion 
and would look at making these proposed additions.  Mr. Burkhart expressed 
his compliments to Gafcon for the hard work in putting the Rainbow Report 
together.   
 
There were no further comments. 
  

 
 

6. Miramar College LLRC State Funding Status     No motion on this item 

Chancellor Carroll provided some information about a document recently sent 
to the COC regarding state matching funds.  Chancellor Carroll stated that 
one of the COCõs goals is to make sure the District applies for matching 
funding whenever possible.  Chancellor Carroll stated the District sent in a 
number of applications at a time when the Governor indicated his intent to 
have a Higher Education Bond on the November Ballot; an intent shared by 
the Legislature. The Community Collegeõs share of the Bond was identified as 
approximately $450 million.  Chancellor Carroll referred to the handout that 
listed qualified projects. 
 
The San Diego Miramar College Library Learning Resource Center (LRC) was 
listed for approximately $20 million in support.  The District is pleased with 
this listing because it demonstrates the District is pursuing matching funds and 
is qualifying for those funds.  The Chancellor indicated that the Legislative 
Budget Committee has removed this issue from the Legislative agenda, which 

 



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 5 of 7 

makes it unlikely the State would pursue a Higher Education Bond.  As a 
result, none of the projects on the handout will be funded at any level.   More 
will be learned in November.  
 
Chancellor Carroll added that, should this be the case, the District would need 
to look back to the original plan to fund the Miramar LLRC at 100%.  This is 
what was listed in the Bond Measure itself.  If the 100% funding is not 
pursued, the District will not be able to move forward for another two years. 
Mr. Burkhart added the LLRC Design is currently 95% complete.  Chancellor 
Carroll stated the funding news is disappointing but it should not affect 
progress on the project, as it was originally fully funded. Chancellor Carroll 
stated a motion could be performed and noted on the Agenda for the next 
COC meeting on September 8, 2008.   
 
Note:  Motion to accept decision to be offered at September 8, 2008, meeting 
once further information is received on the State Higher Education Bond. 
 
Chairman Glaser asked if for any further comments or questions.  There were 
none. 
 

7. Update on Legal Matters No motion on this item 

Chancellor Carroll distributed a copy of a lawsuit filed by the City Attorney 
against Linville Martin, an independent real estate broker who sent a letter to 
of the owners of several properties near San Diego City College, falsely 
claiming that he was acting on behalf of the District as a development partner.  
The lawsuit names 25 additional defendants accused of engaging in unlawful, 
unfair or fraudulent business acts while claiming to represent District interests. 
The Chancellor provided an update on the lawsuit. There was some discussion 
regarding this matter. 
 
Chairman Glaser asked if anyone had any questions or comments.  There were 
no further questions. 
 

 

8. Property Acquisition Update No motion on this item 

Mr. Burkhart stated the District is currently completing property acquisition 
for two projects: 

 West Block (City - General Purpose Classrooms Building Site) 
Of the nine parcels required, the District currently own five.  New 
appraisals have been completed and provided to the property owners.  
The new appraisals show the property values have declined between 
16% - 30% since the original appraisal; a benefit for the District. 

 Clairemont (Linda Vista) 
The appraisals for two properties are due July 15, 2008.  One property 
is directly adjacent to the Bayside Community Center (2206 Comstock 
St).  Mr. David Umstot is negotiating with San Diego Unified School 
District to purchase a piece of property it owns that is adjacent to the 
Comstock site. The District would like to have this property to 
complete that acquisition process. 
 

Ms. Pat Zaharopoulos asked what was being built on the Linda Vista property.  
Mr. Burkhart replied it would house a Continuing Education Center on 
approximately 10,000 sq ft.  Dr. Anthony Beebe added that it will 
accommodate basic skills programs, ESO classes and some vocational classes.  
Chancellor Carroll asked that maps be provided for all future COC meetings 

 



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 6 of 7 

as a visual aid in discussing land acquisition issues. 
 
Note:  Maps of Property Acquisitions to be provided at September 8, 2008 
meeting. 

 

9. Bid savings for Career Technology Center (CTC) & Miramar 
College Infrastructure 

  No motion on this item 

Mr. Burkhart stated that bids for the Career Technology Center (CTC) at City 
College and the Infrastructure project at Miramar each came in approximately 
$4 million under bid, for a combined savings of approximately $8 million. Mr. 
Burkhart stated the savings will stay with the campuses until the District 
develops a strategy for the use of bid savings. 
Mr. Berg asked how the projects were bid out.  Mr. Burkhart stated the CTC 
was a Multi/Prime project with 33 primes. The Infrastructure was a detailed 
and difficult bid.   
 
Chairman Glaser asked if anyone had any further questions.  There were no 
further questions. 
 

 
 
 

10. Career Technology Center Groundbreaking   No motion on this item 

Mr. Burkhart stated the CTC Ground Breaking event will be held on October 
16, 2008 at 2:00 p.m., with additional details to be determined. 
 
There were no further questions. 
 

 
 
 
 

11. Vice Chancellor Report      (Mr. Burkhart for Mr. Umstot)   No motion on this item 

Mr. Burkhart reported on the current construction of the following projects: 

 Career Technology Center - .Work began about a week ago. There 
were 33 packages. It is approximately a $4 -6 million project. There 
are no Change Orders right now.   

 L Building Renovation ð It is going very well with approved Change 
Orders of under 1%. 

 P Building ð It is 5% completed. There have been no approved 
Change Orders to date. 

 Allied Health Building ð It is 6% complete. McCarthy Construction is 
moving forward at a great pace.  This project is scheduled to finish on 
time. 

 East Campus Improvement Project (Parking Structure & Road Re-
alignment) ð There are some issues to be resolved still, but the project 
is scheduled to be finished by March 1, 2009.   

 Hour Glass Park Field House ð It is expected that the current change 
order rate of 7.7% will increase to 10%.  There have been design 
errors and omissions by the Architect which are being tracked by the 
District. There are also issues in entitlement in regard to delays with 
C.W. Driver.  Mr. Burkhart and Mr. Umstot are currently working 
with C.W. Driverõs management team to resolve the issues. The 
targeted completion date is spring 2009.  

 Reprographic Mail Room Relocation Project ð The project is going 
very well. 

 ECC Land Acquisition/Skills Center project ð The project currently 
has a 3.2% change order rate.  The project is behind schedule, and the 

 



MEETING MINUTES #31 
July 14, 2008 

Page 7 of 7 

District has ongoing meetings with Jaynes Corp. to resolve issues and 
resume the project schedule.  The project superintendent has recently 
been replaced and this has improved progress.  The District will 
continue action with Jaynes Corp. as needed. 

 West City Campus ð There is currently a 3.15% change order rate.  
The work with Soltek is going very well. 

This completes the status on the current projects to date.  Mr. Burkhart also 
stated the District will put out an RFP this month for the General Purpose 
Classroom Building at City College, a Design/Build project.  The building 
design is coinciding with property acquisition. A similar strategy will follow at 
the end of August for the Miramar College Parking Structure project.  In 
October, the District will put out an RFP for five Multi/Prime projects 
including the Humanities Technology Building at City College; the Science 
Building at City College; the Science Building at Mesa College and the LLRC 
at Miramar College. 

Mr. Burkhart commented on how pleased he is to have the campus project 
managers on board: Mr. Jim Bray at Miramar College; Mr. Tom Fine at City 
College; Mr. Scott Ellis at Continuing Education; and Mr. Daniel Sicile-Kira at 
Mesa College. Mr. Burkhart added that without the campus project managers, 
the construction projects would not be as far along as they are at this time.   

 

There were no additional comments or questions. 

 

12. Open Forum   No motion on this item 

Ms. Rosalie Schwartz asked if there was an update on the health situation for 
Mr. Harvey Goodfriend. Chancellor Carroll stated the District had been 
notified that, due to Mr. Goodfriendõs health, he would no longer be serving 
on the COC.  The Committee agreed a gift be sent to Mr. Goodfriend on 
behalf of the COC. 

 

There were no further comments. 

 

 

13. Adjournment  

Chairman Glaser adjourned the meeting at 5:05 p.m. 

 

 

Next Meeting:  

Monday, September 8, 2008, at 4:00 pm, located at the District Offices, 3375 
Camino del Rio S. Suite 245 Conference Room.   

 

 


